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I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

In 2012 Jimmy Zhong stole around $620,000 worth of Bitcoin from Silk Road.  

Over a decade later most of that Bitcoin along with other Bitcoin is under the 

Government’s control and is worth between $3.39 and $1.4 billion.   

In September 2012, at the age of just 22, Mr. Zhong, known as “Jimmy,” 

accidentally found and then intentionally exploited a simple flaw in the illegal Silk 

Road website.  In a few hours spread out over just two days, Jimmy stole around 

50,000 Bitcoin from the Silk Road website valued at that time at around $620,000.  

Jimmy took the Bitcoin from Silk Road with no planning, and little effort other than 

creating multiple user accounts and rapidly clicking the withdraw button.  Jimmy 

stopped the withdrawals on his own accord even though he could have continued to 

acquire additional Bitcoin undetected. 

While Jimmy had no right to take the Bitcoin from the “victim” (Silk Road 

and/or Ross Ulbricht), it is equally true that they had no right to possess the Bitcoin 

in the first place.  Silk Road and Ross Ulbricht are not financial victims in the true 

sense of the word under the Mandatory Victims Restitution Act.  

After Jimmy took the Bitcoin from Silk Road, Ross Ulbricht contacted Jimmy 

over the Silk Road messaging service and asked him to explain how he accessed the 

Bitcoin.  After Jimmy told him what he did, Ulbricht never asked Jimmy to return 
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the coins. Rather, he thanked Jimmy for his candor and sent him, unsolicited, 

additional Bitcoin. Silk Road’s response to Jimmy’s conduct is hardly the response 

of a victim. 

Jimmy is the product of a dysfunctional family and childhood.  His parents, 

who divorced when Jimmy was in high school showed him no love or parental 

concern.  Jimmy cannot remember the last time he exchanged a word with his sister.  

From childhood until high school, Jimmy was severely bullied and victimized by his 

peers because he was different - he was extremely shy, overweight, and most 

significantly, suffered from undiagnosed autism spectrum disorder.  Having no 

friends or family he could turn to, Jimmy found solace and friendship in the world 

of his computer. Well over a decade ago, with the onset of the cryptocurrency 

market, Jimmy successfully mined bitcoin and made his first very substantial 

income.  

As discussed below, when Jimmy’s misconduct is viewed in the context of its 

unusual circumstances and his personal history, there are compelling reasons to 

impose a non-prison sentence coupled with community service, mental health 

treatment, and if necessary, a term of home confinement.    

II. THE FACTORS SET FORTH IN 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) AS APPLIED IN 
THIS CASE STRONGLY SUPPORT A VARIANCE. 

 
The overarching sentencing principle behind Section 3553(a), often called the 

Case 1:22-cr-00606-PGG   Document 30   Filed 03/24/23   Page 3 of 41



4 
 
 

parsimony clause, is that a sentencing court “shall impose a sentence sufficient but 

not greater than necessary” to meet the goals of sentencing. (emphasis added).1  

Subparagraph 2 of Section 3553(a) directs that “[t]he court, in determining 

the particular sentence to be imposed, shall consider” the following factors 

relevant here: 

(1) the nature and circumstances of the offense and the history and characteristics 
of the defendant; 

 
(2) the need for the sentence imposed— 
 

(A) to reflect the seriousness of the offenses, to promote respect for the law, 
and to provide just punishment for the offense; 

  (B) to afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct; 
  (C) to protect the public from further crimes of the defendant; and 

 (D) to provide the defendant with . . . medical care . . . in the most effective 
manner; 

 
(3) the kinds of sentences available; and … 
 
(4) the kinds of sentence and the sentencing range established for the applicable 

category of offense committed by the applicable category of defendant as set 
forth in the guidelines 

 
(6)    the need to avoid unwarranted sentence disparities among defendants with 
similar records who have been found guilty of similar conduct; and 

 
1 The parsimony clause was originally part of the House sentencing reform bill and was later added 
to the Senate resolution and adopted in committee.  The clause was “not just another ‘factor’ to be 
considered along with others in § 3553(a) – it sets an independent limit on the sentence a court 
may impose.  David L. McColgan & Brett G. Sweitzer, Grid & Bear It,  29 Champion 50, 50 
(2005); see also United States v. Foreman, 436 F.3d 638, 644 (6th Cir. 2006)(court mandated to 
impose sentence sufficient but not greater than necessary to comply with purposes behind § 
3553(a)); Richard S. Frase, Punishment Purposes,  58 Stan. L. Rev. 67, 83 (2005) (stating that the 
“structure of section 3553(a),” which lists the parsimony clause first, suggests strongly that this 
principle “sets overall limits on the crime-control and other purposes which follow.”) 
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(7) the need to provide restitution to any victims of the offense. 

 
The factors enumerated in Section 3553(a) are the “bedrock of all federal 

sentencing”. United States v. Gupta, 904 F. Supp. 2d 349, 353 (S.D.N.Y. 2012), 

aff’d, 747 F.3d 111 (2d Cir. 2014). In crafting the proper sentence, the “district 

judge should . . . consider all of the § 3553(a) factors to determine whether they 

support the sentence requested by a party.” In so doing, the judge “must make an 

individualized assessment based on the facts presented.” United States v. Davalos, 

2008 WL 4642109, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 20, 2008) (quoting Gall v. United States, 

552 U.S. 38, 40 (2007). “A sentencing judge is permitted to find all the facts 

appropriate for determining a sentence, whether that sentence is a so-called 

Guidelines sentence or not.” United States v. Ramirez, 2009 WL 4722237, at *2 

(S.D.N.Y. Dec. 4, 2009). 

Below we discuss the § 3553(a) factors as they apply to Mr. Zhong’ upcoming 

sentencing. 

a. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(1): The Nature and Circumstances of the Offense. 

i. Jimmy’s Brief Walk into the Silk Road 

As reported in the PSR, the Silk Road was an online darknet black market that 

was in operation from about 2011 through 2013.  It was created and operated by 

Ross William Ulbricht to cater mostly to persons engaged in various forms of illegal 
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conduct, including the purchase and sale of illegal drugs.  In February 2015, Ulbricht 

was convicted of numerous charges and was sentenced on May 29, 2015 to life 

imprisonment plus 40 years. (PSR ¶¶ 7-9).    The only form of payment accepted on 

the Silk Road site to pay for its services was Bitcoin. In order to make a purchase 

through Silk Road, the “user” had to first fund his account with Bitcoin which 

remained in escrow pending completion of the transaction.  (PSR ¶¶ 11-17).     

Sometime in 2012, when Jimmy was 21 years old, he began using the Silk 

Road website to purchase personal use amounts of cocaine during a time in his life 

when he used cocaine regularly on the weekends. After one or two Silk Road 

transactions, however, Jimmy decided he no longer wanted to make purchases on 

the site and opted to withdraw his Bitcoin.  While doing so, Jimmy accidentally 

double-clicked the withdraw button and was surprised to discover that it resulted in 

a serendipitous withdrawing of double the amount of Bitcoin.  Jimmy, having 

stumbled into this flaw, took advantage of it over a brief period—essentially a few 

hours of work spread out over two days. Jimmy took the Bitcoin from Silk Road 

with no planning, and little effort other than creating multiple user accounts and 

rapidly clicking the withdraw button.  He promptly stopped the withdrawals on his 

own accord though he could have easily continued to acquire additional Bitcoin 

undetected.  Moreover, Jimmy never encouraged, counselled, or taught others how 
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to take Bitcoin from Silk Road. 

Within a few days after Jimmy stopped withdrawing the Bitcoin, he was 

unexpectedly contacted by Ulbricht over the Silk Road messaging service and asked 

how he obtained the Bitcoin.  Jimmy explained the flaw to Ulbricht, who, in turn, 

unsolicited, sent Jimmy additional Bitcoin as a “thank you” for explaining the fault 

in the site.  That Ulbricht never demanded that Jimmy return the Bitcoin and even 

sent him additional Bitcoin as a “thank you,” added to Jimmy’s belief that while his 

conduct was wrong, there was no real “victim.” 

Jimmy committed a crime. He is remorseful for having done so. Yet, the 

seriousness of Jimmy’s crime, or any crime is deeply intertwined with the nature of 

the harm caused.  Here the “harm” is to Ulbricht who only obtained control over the 

Bitcoin by his criminal scheme for which he is serving two life sentences plus 40 

years.2  Ulbricht never had any right to possess the Bitcoin and is not a “victim” in 

the true sense of the word.  The “harm” to Ulbricht is of a fundamentally different 

character than the harm caused in other cryptocurrency theft cases involving 

innocent victims.  Here, no investor was misled and no diversion of funds for 

improper purposes occurred.  No one lost the fruits of his or her hard labor.  No 

 
2 While Jimmy had no right to take the Bitcoin from Silk Road, once he did, it would also have 
been unlawful for Jimmy to return it to Ulbricht even if he had wanted to.  
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retiree lost his or her nest egg.  No family lost the ability to pay the home mortgage.  

No parents lost their ability to send their kids to school.    Certainly, the Government 

and society in general have a strong interest in protecting innocent victims and 

deterring crimes against them.  By contrast, there is far less Government or societal 

interest in protecting the financial well-being of drug dealers like Ulbricht or 

individuals who used the site for nefarious purposes.  Still, Jimmy fully appreciates 

the wrongfulness of his conduct – that he had no right to the Bitcoin - and will never 

again engage in illegal conduct.   

ii. Use and preservation of the Silk Road Bitcoin 

It was not until 2017, five years after the withdrawals from Silk Road, that 

Jimmy eventually used some of the Silk Road connected Bitcoin.3  Jimmy preserved 

around 96%, or 51,351.89785803 of the total 53,500 Silk Road Bitcoin, despite 

having complete control over it for almost a decade.  Of the missing 4%, Jimmy used 

about 3% for personal and business purposes, and gave away around 258 Bitcoin as 

gift to friends and around 250 Bitcoin were stolen from his home. Jimmy also 

reported all Bitcoin sales, whether connected or unconnected to Silk Road, on his 

tax returns. 

 
3  Prior to 2017, all of Jimmy’s income was derived from the sale of legitimately obtained Bitcoin. 
Even after Jimmy began using the Silk Road connected Bitcoin in 2017, he continued to derive a 
significant amount of his income from the sale of Bitcoin unconnected to Silk Road. 
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 The steps Jimmy took to conceal his control over the Bitcoin were neither 

complex nor did they require technical brilliance.  Jimmy created multiple 

usernames on Silk Road to withdraw the Bitcoin.  Like every user of Silk Road, he 

did not use his true name for the usernames. Later Jimmy sent a small percentage of 

the original Bitcoin through a Bitcoin mixer that made those 750 Bitcoin harder to 

trace. Jimmy also converted the Bitcoin Cash he received in 2017 into Bitcoin 

making the Bitcoin generated in the conversion harder to trace back to Silk Road.4 

It is also true that Bitcoin is inherently semi-anonymous. Yet that semi-anonymity 

is a built-in feature of Bitcoin, not something Jimmy created. The overwhelming 

majority of the Bitcoin simply sat on the Bitcoin Blockchain such that anyone could 

have traced it back to Silk Road with any of the many publicly available web-based 

blockchain explorers. 

iii. Turning over control to the Government 

The Government notes that Jimmy waited around four months from the date 

of the search to turn over control of the Bitcoin to the Government.5  There were 

multiple reasons for this short delay.  Defense counsel needed time get up to speed 

 
4 Jimmy converted the Bitcoin Cash to Bitcoin because felt that Bitcoin would be more valuable 
in the long run.  Jimmy was right and that decision resulted in Government recovering more 
value (tens of millions of dollars’ more in value) than the Government would have received had 
Jimmy not converted the Bitcoin Cash to Bitcoin. 
 
5 Govt. response to Defense PSR objection. 
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on the facts of the case.  The Defense needed to hire its own forensic expert to trace 

and separate the Silk Road Bitcoin from the Bitcoin Jimmy acquired legitimately—

no easy task.  Defense counsel needed to research, given the civil resolution reached 

in a similar case, whether a crime had even been committed.  Further, not long after 

the search warrant was executed at his home, Jimmy directed counsel to reach out 

to the government to begin negotiating a resolution of his case.  However, the 

Government, like the defense, also needed time to get up to speed.  Once the 

Government was ready to meet, defense counsel posited to the Government that to 

avoid disparity in treatment, Jimmy’s case should be resolved civilly, as was done 

in a similar case in California, or through a deferred prosecution agreement.  In 

support, the defense presented several strong legal and factual arguments to mitigate 

Jimmy’s culpability.  Only a few days later, before any decision was rendered by the 

Government, Jimmy gave the government control over the Silk Road related bitcoin.   

Although the Government had seized the physical device needed to control 

most of the Bitcoin, the Government had no way to use that device to control the 

Bitcoin without Mr. Zhong’s cooperation. Jimmy gave the Government, with no 

promise of anything in return, the keys and tools needed to take control of billions 

of dollars’ worth of Bitcoin—control that the Government would not have been able 

to gain without Jimmy’s cooperation.   

As Jimmy has gone through the multistep process of giving the Government 
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control of the Bitcoin he has repeatedly proven – through his actions – his good faith 

desire to aid and cooperate with the Government.  Jimmy decrypted files needed to 

access the Bitcoin, provided the Government the private keys to Bitcoin on the 

blockchain, provided copies of Bitcoin wallets (and their passwords) to access those 

wallets, spent days and days over the course of weeks extracting Bitcoin from 

lighting nodes, identified Bitcoin in interest bearing online accounts and sent it to 

the Government, and even gave the Government control over around 14 Bitcoin 

unconnected to Silk Road  (worth around $390,000 at today’s Bitcoin price of around 

$28,000 a Bitcoin).  At any point prior to or during the process Jimmy could have 

fled with the keys, yet he chose to stay and cooperate with the Government. 

iv. Financial benefit to the Government 

The Government has not been harmed by Jimmy’s actions which took place 

almost a decade ago when he was just 21 years old. Instead, the Government will 

benefit enormously from his return of the Bitcoin. In 2012 when Jimmy took the 

Bitcoin from Silk Road, it had a value of around $620,000, a small fraction of the 

value of the Bitcoin the Government seized and currently possesses.  On the day of 

the seizure, the Bitcoin was worth around $3.39 billion—almost 5.5 thousand times 

more than when Jimmy took it from Silk Road in 2012.  On the date of this filing 

the Bitcoin is worth about $1.44 billion—over 2.3 thousand times more valuable 

than on the date Jimmy took it from Silk Road. 
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But for the Government’s hard work in its investigation, there would be no 

financial benefit to the Government.  However, it is also true that there would have 

been no benefit, or one that was substantially smaller, had Jimmy not taken the 

Bitcoin from Silk Road back in 2012.  Assuming that the Bitcoin had not already 

been dissipated by Ulbricht, the Government would have seized about 50,000 

Bitcoin back in 2013 when it shut down Silk Road.  The Government then would 

have sold the Bitcoin at auction in 2014 for around $16.7 million.6  However, that 

did not happen and the Government now has obtained control over exponentially 

more value than it would have had the Bitcoin been sold at auction in 2014 - ranging 

from over 200 times more value (based on the total Bitcoin value of about $3.39 

billion on the seizure dates) to about 86 times more value (based on the total Bitcoin 

value of around $1.44 billion on today’s date). 

The staggering financial benefit to the Government is the result of: 

• Jimmy’s taking the Bitcoin from Silk Road back in 2012, preventing Ulbricht 

from dissipating it. 

• Jimmy’s preservation of about 96% of the Bitcoin for almost a decade. 

• The dramatic increase in value of Bitcoin since 2012. 

 
6 In 2013 the Government shut down Silk Road and seized 144,336 Bitcoin from Silk Road, selling 
the Bitcoin in 2014 for $48,238,116 (average of $334 a Bitcoin). https://www.justice.gov/usao-
sdny/pr/acting-manhattan-us-attorney-announces-forfeiture-48-million-sale-silk-road-bitcoins   
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• Jimmy’s foresight back in 2017 to convert the Bitcoin Cash to Bitcoin.7 

• Jimmy’s cooperation with the Government, with no promise of anything in 

return, giving the Government the ability to control billions in dollars’ worth 

of Bitcoin that the Government would not have been able to control without 

Jimmy’s cooperation. 

The financial benefit to the Government of Jimmy seizing and holding onto 

the Silk Road Bitcoin is shocking and difficult to put in perspective.  For example, 

the value of the Bitcoin when seized by the government of about $3.39 billion, was 

more than the 2021 annual GDP of almost half the counties in the state of New 

York.8  Even at the value of the Bitcoin today, of about $1.44 billion, it is worth 

more than the 2021 annual GDP of seven of New York’s counties.9 

While Mr. Zhong’s conduct was criminal, this Court should keep in mind that 

there is no true financial victim here; that while Jimmy financially benefited from 

his wrongdoing he still preserved and grew the majority of the asset; and that the 

 
7 Jimmy received 50,000 Bitcoin Cash in the 2017 Bitcoin Cash hard fork. Jimmy then converted 
all 50,000 BCH to Bitcoin.  Jimmy thought Bitcoin would be a better long-term investment than 
Bitcoin Cash and he was right.   While Jimmy dissipated a significant amount of the Bitcoin he 
obtained from the conversion, the Bitcoin remaining from that conversion and obtained by the 
Government, is tens of millions dollars more valuable than the full 50,000 Bitcoin Cash would 
be valued today.   Further, had Jimmy not taken the Bitcoin from Silk Road the Government 
would not have been able to benefit from the 2017 Bitcoin Cash hard fork at all. 
 
8 https://www.bea.gov/data/gdp/gdp-county-metro-and-other-areas  
 
9 Id. 
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U.S. government and the taxpayer will sustain an enormous financial benefit from 

the return of the Bitcoin. 

b. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(1): the history and characteristics of the defendant. 

It is no accident that the first criterion under § 3553(a) – The Nature and 

Circumstances of the Offense and The History and Characteristics of the Defendant 

- was drafted by Congress in the conjunctive.  In imposing a fair and just sentence, 

justice dictates that the crime committed by a defendant should not be viewed 

separately in a vacuum but in light of the defendant’s unique history and humanity.  

It has long been recognized that a defendant’s character is always “a central 

consideration in the fashioning of a just sentence.”  United States v. Merritt, 988 

F.2d 1298, 1307 (2d Cir. 1993). As the respected jurist, the Honorable Jed S. Rakoff 

so eloquently explained: 

[S]urely, if ever a man is to receive credit for the good he has done, and 
his immediate misconduct assessed in the context of his overall life 
hitherto, it should be at the moment of his sentencing, when his very 
future hangs in the balance. This elementary principle of weighing the 
good with the bad, which is basic to all the great religions, moral 
philosophies, and systems of justice, was plainly part of what Congress 
had in mind when it directed courts to consider, as a necessary 
sentencing factor, ‘the history and characteristics of the defendant’. 
 
United States v. Adelson, 441 F. Supp. 2d 506, 513-14 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).  

The U.S. Supreme Court has voiced similar views See Gall v. United States, 552 

U.S. 38, 52, 128 S. Ct. 586, 598 (2007) (‘“It has been uniform and constant in the 
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federal judicial tradition for the sentencing judge to consider every convicted person 

as an individual and every case as a unique study in the human failings that 

sometimes mitigate, sometimes magnify, the crime and the punishment to ensue’” 

(quoting Koon v. United States, 518 U.S. 81, 113, (1996)); see also 18 U.S.C. § 

3661; U.S.S.G. § 1B1.4 (sentencing court not limited regarding the information 

about a defendant’s background, character and conduct that it may consider when 

imposing an appropriate sentence). 

i. Autism spectrum disorder diagnosis 

Upon first meeting with Mr. Zhong, defense counsel was immediately concerned 

about his emotional functioning. In March 2022, counsel arranged for Jimmy to 

undergo an independent psychological analysis by Matthew W. Norman MD.  Dr. 

Norman’s report and findings, dated March 31, 2022, is attached as Exhibit A 

(hereinafter the “Norman Report”).  Dr. Norman’s report confirmed defense 

counsel’s concerns, and concluded that Jimmy’s symptoms are consistent with 

autism spectrum disorder, which 

is recognized in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental 
Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5). Autism Spectrum Disorder is 
recognized as a continuous and life-long developmental disorder 
characterized by severe and sustained impairment in social interaction 
and the development of restricted repetitive patterns of behavior, 
interests, and activities without other language and cognitive 
developmental delays.   
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Id. at 8. 

ii. Jimmy Zhong’s formative years 

Jimmy Zhong was born on May 24, 1990 in New Jersey to the marital union 

of Sheng (father) and Xiaohui Zhong, both Chinese nationals. Jimmy has a younger 

sister, Crystal, age 26.   From a very young age Jimmy’s relationship with his parents 

was severely strained. His parents fought continuously.  For all intents and purposes, 

Jimmy grew up without any parental guidance, care, or affection. Jimmy barely 

knew his father who spent his waking hours at his thrift-type shop where he bought 

and sold cheap goods. (PSR ¶ 83)  Jimmy’s mother was a nurse who worked the 

night shift and slept during the day. She provided Jimmy with no maternal attention 

or affection.  According to Dr. Norman’s report, Jimmy stated that his parents “’were 

never there’ and ‘[t]hey never seemed to care.  They were never nice.  I got out of 

there as soon as I could.’”  (Norman Report, p. 2).  Jimmy’s relationship with his 

sister, Crystal, was no different. “’I never had a relationship there either.’” Id.  Jimmy 

has no idea where Crystal is today or if his mother or sister are even aware of his 

current legal predicament. (PSR ¶ 82)  Jimmy described his childhood as 

“miserable” and without any enjoyment.  It was a time period he “tried to block out.”   

(PSR ¶¶ 83-84)   

Jimmy believes his parents divorced when he was in middle school or high 

Case 1:22-cr-00606-PGG   Document 30   Filed 03/24/23   Page 16 of 41



17 
 
 

school.10 Jimmy’s father provided no financial support to the family. Although 

Jimmy continued to reside in his mother’s home, he had no relationship with her and 

he was essentially a stranger in his own home.   

Jimmy never learned the skills necessary to develop friendships with others.  

This is no surprise since Jimmy never developed a relationship with his own parents, 

who, in turn, never socialized with others.   With his undiagnosed autism and the 

total absence of the skills necessary to develop social relationships, Jimmy did not 

fare well in lower school or in high school. In fact, beginning as far back as 

elementary school in Cobb County, Georgia, Jimmy was unable to fit in with the 

other children.  Jimmy reported to Dr. Norman that he was “bullied starting at an 

early age . . .  He ‘couldn’t go anywhere and had no friends.’” Id. at 2.  Jimmy 

described his childhood to Dr. Norman as “‘crappy.  I got picked on a lot.  I never 

made any friends.  I still have few friends.’”  Jimmy was made fun of as “’[b]eing 

fat.  Being ugly.  Being weird.’”  Id., at 3.  The lack of love he had at home was 

leveraged by the ridicule and abuse he suffered in school before college.  Jimmy was 

routinely tormented by his school peers, including publicly having his pants pulled 

down at a football game and being punched for no other reason than to brutalize him 

 
10 For most children, a divorce is a traumatic event not easily forgotten.  For Jimmy, given his 
parents’ absence from his life, their divorce was of very little, if any significance to him. Jimmy 
learned that his father died sometime in 2022. 
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emotionally and physically. Id. It was this mistreatment and the absence of parental 

and familial love or just attention that catalyzed Jimmy to hide in his room and focus 

on his computer skills. As reported by Dr. Norman, for Jimmy the “computer 

provided an escape to his school and home-life angst.  He ‘got on the computer every 

single day.’  He learned to program [computers] in middle school. . . . He [Jimmy] 

“spontaneously reported that the computer allowed him to fantasize about ‘making 

up the perfect life or something.’” Id.  

Academically, Jimmy did very well in high-school, and in the fall of 2008, at 

the age of 18, he entered the University of Georgia on a HOPE scholarship.11   Jimmy 

has not spoken with his parents or his sister since he left for the University. Jimmy’s 

hope that his parents would “’show some attention’” due to his academic success 

was unavailing Id.  at 3.   

iii. College to the present 

At about the time he entered University, Jimmy learned about Bitcoin mining, 

and in around 2009, he mined “’a couple of hundred coins per day.’” Id.12  Finally 

 
11 The HOPE Scholarship is available to Georgia residents who have demonstrated academic 
achievement to assist with educational costs of attending postsecondary institution in Georgia. 
https://finaid.gatech.edu/undergraduate-types-aid/hope-
scholarship#:~:text=The%20HOPE%20Scholarship%20is%20available,in%20the%20state%20o
f%20Georgia. 
 
12 Bitcoin mining is the process by which new bitcoins are entered into circulation. It is also the 
way the network confirms new transactions and is a critical component of the blockchain ledger's 
maintenance and development. "Mining" is performed using sophisticated hardware that solves 
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unleashed with money but without proper coping skills, Jimmy drank excessively, 

at times till he blacked out, and to fit in, used cocaine on weekends for several 

years.13  He displayed large amounts of cash futilely hoping to impress people – 

particularly women.  He gave away bitcoin as gifts - worth almost $3 million based 

on the Bitcoin value at the time. Still, few of these ersatz friendships lasted. Jimmy 

believes that other than a few remaining friendships, the majority dissipated with his 

wealth. Id.at 4. Jimmy has never been married, and reports having no close female 

relationships.  He lives alone in Georgia in a modest home with his elderly dog.  

Before the seizure of the Bitcoin, Jimmy always supported himself through bitcoin 

mining and related transactions.  Since his arrest, Jimmy has worked as a Lyft and 

Uber driver and has started and developed a CNC metal cutting business with 

multiple clients that has grown and is showing great promise.  

iv. Character letters 

Typically, in a sentencing memorandum counsel attaches many letters of 

support from a defendant’s family and friends describing his/her very personal 

reasons for asking your Honor to temper cold justice with warm mercy when 

 
an extremely complex computational math problem. The first computer to find the solution to the 
problem receives the next block of bitcoins and the process begins again. 
https://www.investopedia.com/tech/how-does-bitcoin-mining-work/ 
 
13 Jimmy has a DUI and simple drug possession arrest.  The latter has been expunged.   
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imposing sentence.  Unfortunately, Jimmy has no family. A handful of people, 

however, who have remained his close friends, have written letters on his behalf to 

this Court describing Jimmy laudatorily.14   

Alexa Pisczak, now an attorney, met Jimmy in 2008 during her freshman year 

at the University of Georgia.  They have remained close friends over the past 15 

years. In her letter, Ms. Pisczak describes Jimmy’s kind and caring nature, fostered 

despite the hardships he experienced growing up:  

I’m taking the time to write this letter because I want you know that 
Jimmy is one of the best people I know. Jimmy is the type of person 
who will do anything for anyone (friend or stranger) if they need 
help. For the last 15 years, Jimmy has been someone I can call and 
depend on when my car breaks down, my tech crashes, I need 
someone to cry or vent to, I need a ride or I need help with anything 
else. It doesn’t matter if Jimmy is busy or not, he is always willing 
to help others and never complains or expects anything in return. 
 
Jimmy has always been kind to everyone who I’ve seen him interact 
with, and he always wants people to be happy and to have a good 
time. I’ve never heard anyone who knows Jimmy say anything 
negative about him or his character. Although Jimmy is human and 
makes mistakes like everyone else, he is a good person to his core.  
 
Jimmy has always been extremely hard working, and I admire his 
perseverance because his life hasn’t been easy. Jimmy has had to 
support himself financially, physically and emotionally since high 
school. He’s had to figure out how to do almost everything himself 
and without a family support system. Despite not having the support 
that many of us are so lucky to have while growing up, Jimmy is one 
of the smartest, handiest and most caring people I know too. I feel 

 
14 Several of the people who wrote letters previously received gifts of Bitcoin from Jimmy that 
unbeknownst to them (and at times Jimmy) included Bitcoin obtained from Silk Road. 
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fortunate to have him as a close friend. (Ex. B) 
 

Julian Pisczak is Alexia’s husband and has also known Jimmy Zhong for 15 

years.  Mr. Pisczak knows Jimmy to be a friend with a “good heart,” who acts with 

“integrity” and “respect” for others: 

Jimmy has always conducted himself with integrity and has always 
showed respect to others he interacts with. He has always treated me 
with respect and dignity, and I have not seen him belittle others 
regardless of their relationship to Jimmy. I value my friendship with 
Jimmy greatly. He has always been available to talk when I needed 
someone to vent to. He has always been willing to assist to help me 
move, build furniture, fix my electronics and lawn equipment, and 
never expects anything in return. He treats me with dignity and 
compassion and I am thankful to call him a friend. 
 
Throughout the years, I have seen Jimmy develop new friendships 
and I have always seen Jimmy treat new friendships with respect. 
Jimmy treats each of his friends the same, and I have admired Jimmy 
for being such a great friend who is willing to listen and consider 
their feelings and perspectives. 
 
In conclusion, I wholeheartedly endorse Jimmy and can vouch for 
his character without hesitation. He is a genuine person who loves 
hangout out with friends, is always willing to lend a hand when a 
friend is in need, would be the first person to volunteer to help if 
asked, and has always been a hardworking man. Jimmy will be a 
friendship I have for the remainder of my life and I consider Jimmy 
to be one of my closest friends. Jimmy is an incredible, intelligent 
human being who continues to enlighten those around him and I am 
proud to call him my friend.  (Ex. C) 

 
 Hannah Hecker is a Legal Assistant at an Atlanta-based law firm.  Ms. Hecker 

describes Jimmy as “the most loyal, caring and empathetic individual I have ever 

met. There is nothing he would not do for those he loves, and I know this from 
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experience. . . . My heart goes out to Jimmy because all he wants in this life is to 

love others and for others to love him.”  (Ex. D) 

Christina Elizabeth Ross is a cardiology nurse practitioner and has known 

Jimmy since 2014.  In her letter to this Court, Ms. Ross describes the caring and 

emotionally altruistic person she knows Jimmy to be despite the serious obstacles he 

faced growing up: 

 
I met Jimmy Zhong in 2014 through my boyfriend at the time  . . . 
Jimmy has been the best friend I have ever had. Ever since I met him, 
he would drop what he is doing to go help any of his friends in time 
of need.  . . . I eventually got married in 2018 and Jimmy was the 
Best Man in our wedding. Jimmy has been there for me during 
difficult times and times of trouble including my divorce and getting 
through school. I always know that I can count on him to be there for 
me during times of need. My ex-husband had mental health issues 
that lead to hospitalizations and at the drop of a dime Jimmy would 
drive over 2 hours to get to us when called whether it was to just be 
there for us emotionally or to help take care of our dog while I was 
at the hospital  . . . Jimmy has helped me move numerous times 
because I never hired movers. I do not know too many people that 
would be willing to help pack up their house and help them move.  
 
I heard over the years that Jimmy had a rough childhood and had to 
fend for himself at a very early age. I grew up in a very tight-knit 
family and could not believe when I found out that he never 
celebrated Holidays and his family never celebrated his birthday. His 
mother and father were never there to support him and were not even 
present for his Graduation ceremony from the University of Georgia. 
My family and I took Jimmy under our wing and consider him as 
part of our family. Over the years, he has come to celebrate holidays 
like Thanksgiving and Christmas with us. He is such a kind soul and 
I am thankful to know him and call him one of my very best friends. 
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I strongly believe that I would not be where I am today without his 
constant love, friendship, and support.  (Ex. E) 

 
 For the reasons set forth above and those discussed below, we respectfully ask 

that Your Honor impose a non-prison sentence on Mr. Zhong. 

c. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(A): the need for the sentence imposed to reflect the 
seriousness of the offense, to promote respect for the law, and provide just 
punishment for the offense. 
 

 Here, a non-custodial sentence adequately considers the seriousness of the 

offense based on the unique facts here, as detailed above, promotes respect for the 

law and provides just punishment for the offense.  With retribution, society considers 

the offender’s degree of blameworthiness and the amount of harm done and imposes 

punishment accordingly.  See Hon. James S. Gwyn, Juror Sentiment on Just 

Punishment: Do Federal Sentencing Guidelines Reflect Community Values? 

Harvard Law Review and Public Policy Review, 2010 [Vol.4.p.173-200].  Public 

opinion polls reveal that prison terms are unnecessary to promote respect for the law 

or to appropriately punish an offender. Id. at 175.  (The median juror recommended 

sentence was only 19% of the median Guidelines ranges and only 36% of the bottom 

of the Guidelines ranges). Studies have shown that the median Guidelines range was 

more than 10 times greater than the median juror’s recommendation.  In fact, in a 

study of 261 cases, jurors recommended a sentence significantly lower than the 

Guidelines 90% of the time. Id.  at 187-188.  This strongly suggests that the 
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Guidelines may overstate the importance of punishment at the expense of other 

sentencing factors. 

d. General Deterrence - 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(A): the need for the sentence 
imposed to promote respect for the law & 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(B): the need 
for the sentence imposed to afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct. 
 

 Imposing a reduced sentence of incarceration aligns with the general 

deterrence purposes mandated under § 3553(a). Indeed, research has consistently 

shown that, while the certainty of being caught and the swiftness in imposing 

punishment has a deterrent effect, “increases in severity of punishments do not yield 

significant (if any) marginal deterrent effects.” M. Tonry, Purposes and Functions 

of Sentencing, 34 Crime & Just. 1, 28 (2006); See also United States v. Yeaman, 248 

F.3d 223, 238 (3d Cir. 2001) (Nygaard, J., dissenting) (“It is widely recognized that 

the duration of incarceration provides little or no general deterrence for white collar 

crimes.”). “Three National Academy of Science panels … reached that conclusion, 

as has every major survey of the evidence.” Id.; See also Zvi D. Gabbay, Exploring 

the Limits of the Restorative Justice Paradigm: Restorative Justice and White-Collar 

Crime, 8 Cardozo J. Conflt. Resol. 421, 447-48 (2007) (“[C]ertainty of punishment 

is empirically known to be a far better deterrent than its severity”); Anthony N. Doob 

& Cheryl Marie Webster, Sentencing Severity and Crime: Accepting the Null 

Hypothesis, 30 Crime & Just. 143 (Univ. Of Chicago 2003) (arguing that severity of 

punishment does not deter crime); Jeffrey Grogger, Certainty v. Severity of 
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Punishment, 29 Econ. Inquiry 297, 308 (1991) (concluding increased certainty of 

punishment generates significant deterrent effects while increased severity produces 

insignificant results); William N. Trumbull, Estimations of the Economic Model of 

Crime Using Aggregate and Individual Level Data, 56 S. Econ. J. 423, 427-37 

(1989) (analyzing data to conclude certainty of punishment has greater deterrent 

effect than severity); Ann Dryden Witte, Estimating the Economic Model of Crime 

with Individual Data, 94 Q.J. Econ. 57, 81-83 (1980) (maintaining certainty of 

punishment produces greater deterrent effect than severity of punishment).  

 Moreover, a reduced sentence of probation, even if accompanied by home 

detention, also sends a strong message to potential white-collar offenders.  See 

United States v. Tomko, 562 F.3d 558, 573 (3d Cir. 2009) (declining to adopt 

government’s argument that district court’s probation-only sentence in complex 

securities fraud case, which the government described as a “100% variance,” would 

harm general deterrence); See also Gabbay, supra, at 448-49 (“[T]here is no decisive 

evidence to support the conclusion that harsh sentences actually have a general and 

specific deterrent effect on potential white-collar offenders.”)15 “[E]mpirical 

 
15 See generally Raymond Paternoster, How Much Do We Really Know About Criminal 
Deterrence? 100 J. Crim. L. & Criminology, 765, 817 (2010) (summarizing empirical studies of 
deterrence and concluding there is no apparent deterrent effect from more severe punishments, a 
modest deterrent effect for the perceived certainty of legal punishment, and “an even stronger 
effect for the certainty of non-legal or informal sanctions”); Mirko Bagaric, A Rational Theory of 
Mitigation and Aggravation in Sentencing: Why Less is More When it Comes to Punishing 
Criminals, 62 Buff. L. Rev. 1159, 1203 (2014) (“[S]tudies repeatedly show that awareness of 
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research shows no relationship between sentence length and deterrence.”16 As for 

whether there is any “particular quantum of punishment that results in increased 

deterrence and thus decreased crime”: 

… Here the findings are uniformly negative: there is no evidence that 
increases in sentence length reduce crime through deterrence. Current 
empirical research on general deterrence shows that while certainty of 
punishment has a deterrent effect, “increases in severity of punishments 
do not yield significant (if any) marginal deterrent effects …17 
 

Furthermore, “general deterrence” alone cannot support the weight of a sentence 

sending an individual to prison. See United States v. Corsey, 723 F.3d 366, 381 (2d 

Cir. 2013) (Underhill, J., concurring) (where the district court’s § 3553 analysis 

relied “almost exclusively on one word – deterrence,” that factor simply could not 

“bear the weight assigned it in the totality circumstances of in the case,” (quoting 

United States v. Cavera, 550 F.3d 180, 191 (2d Cir. 2008)). Several courts have 

recognized the over-emphasis on “general deterrence” as a basis for imposing prison 

sentences. For example, in United States v. Edwards, 595 F.3d 1004 (9th Cir. 2010), 

 
potentially severe sanctions does not produce less crime.”); Robert Weisberg, Reality-Challenged 
Philosophies of Punishment, 95 Marq. L. Rev. 1203, 1248 (2012) (summarizing empirical research 
on general deterrence which concludes that “although the general deterrent effect may operate at 
some base rate to reduce crime, changes in penal policy or enforcement play little role in sending 
a message that crime does not pay”). 
 
16 Amy Baron-Evans, Sentencing by the Statute, at 7 (Apr. 27, 2009).  
 
17 Id. quoting Michael Tonry, Purposes and Functions of Sentencing, 34 Crime and Justice: A 
Review of Research, at 28-29 (2006) (emphasis in original). 
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the defendant, who was convicted of bankruptcy fraud and bank fraud, was 

sentenced to a five-year period of probation with house arrest in lieu of the 

recommended Guideline sentence of 27-33 months. During sentencing, the District 

Court first noted that the defendant was unlikely to re-offend because of his post-

offense rehabilitation. Then, the Court explained that “general deterrence” was not 

a significant factor in the case. Id. at 1011. The District Court reasoned that the 

conditions of probation and restitution constituted sufficient “specific deterrence” to 

prevent Edwards from engaging in similar conduct. Id. In upholding the District 

Court’s sentence, the Ninth Circuit held that § 3553(a) “does not require the goal of 

general deterrence be met through a period of incarceration.” Id. at 1016; See also 

United States v. H. Ty Warner, 792 F.3d 847, 860-61 (7th Cir. 2015) (finding the 

message sent by probationary sentence in tax evasion case with advisory Guidelines 

of 46-57 months sufficient to satisfy general deterrence under § 3553(a)). 

e. Specific Deterrence - 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(C): the need for the sentence 
imposed to protect the public from further crimes of the defendant. 
 

 The circumstances of Mr. Zhong’s offense are unique and unlikely of 

repetition. It would be virtually impossible for Jimmy to ever find himself in a 

remotely similar situation again. Further, a sentence of home confinement, probation 

and community service sends a clear message to Jimmy not to repeat his conduct—

message that Jimmy has already received loud and clear. This process has been a life 
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changing experience for Jimmy. His unequivocal acknowledgment of his 

wrongdoing and his very real remorse, reflected by his pre-arrest cooperation with 

law enforcement, demonstrates that specific deterrence through incarceration is 

unnecessary.  

 Jimmy’s short-lived criminal conduct occurred over a decade ago and since 

that time he has led a law-abiding life.  Since his arrest, Jimmy has worked as a Lyft 

and Uber driver, and has started and developed a metal cutting business with 

multiple clients that has grown and is showing promise. He has proven he will live 

a law-abiding life. A prison sentence will shut this business down and require Jimmy 

to start anew. 

 Jimmy is extremely unlikely to recidivate.  Society does not need to be 

protected from him through incarceration.  And incarceration is not the key to 

deterrence. Courts have recognized the serious impact even non-custodial sentences 

have on a defendant. As explained by the Supreme Court in Gall, supra, when the 

Court upheld a sentence of 36 months’ probation for a defendant where the bottom 

of the Guidelines was 30 months incarceration: 

… We recognize that custodial sentences are qualitatively more severe 
than probationary sentences of equivalent terms. Offenders on 
probation are nonetheless subject to several standard conditions that 
substantially restrict their liberty. Probationers may not leave the 
judicial district, move, or change jobs without notifying, and in some 
cases receiving permission from, their probation officer or the court. 
They must report regularly to their probation officer, permit 
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unannounced visits to their homes, refrain from associating with any 
person convicted of a felony, and refrain from excessive drinking. Most 
probationers are also subject to individual “special conditions” imposed 
by the court. Gall, for instance, may not patronize any establishment 
that derives more than 50% of its revenue from the sale of alcohol, and 
must submit to random drug tests as directed by his probation officer. 
… 
 

Id. at 48-50 (citations omitted). See also United States v. Springer, 684 F. App’x 37, 

40 (2d Cir. 2017) (referring to Supervised Release as “conditional liberty”).  

Courts have recognized that society can in fact benefit from sentencing 

individuals to shorter or non- custodial sentences that would allow them to use their 

skills to better serve the community. United States v. Coughlin, No. 06-CR-20005, 

2008 WL 313099, at *7 (W.D. Ark. Feb. 1, 2008) (sentencing a Walmart 

executive who pled guilty to aiding and abetting wire fraud and filing false tax 

returns, yielding a guideline range of 27 to 33 months of imprisonment, to five years’ 

probation, including 27 months of home detention and 1,500 hours of community 

service in part because defendant’s “expertise is better put to use than wasted in the 

physical deterioration of unnecessary imprisonment”); United States v. Warner, 792 

F.3d 847, 854 (7th Cir. 2015) (despite a Guidelines range of 46 to 57 months, the 

court affirmed a sentence of a defendant to two years’ probation; district court found 

that due to defendant’s extensive philanthropy, “‘society will be best served by 

allowing [defendant] to continue his good works’ outside of prison”); United States 

v. Smith, No. 1:06-CR-00394, 2009 WL 249714, at *4 (N.D. Ohio Feb. 2, 2009) 
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(finding community service would put defendant’s abilities as an accountant and 

lawyer to “good use,” and commented that those “abilities [] would otherwise be 

wasted during a more lengthy prison term”); United States v. Collado, No. 07-CR-

1144, 2008 WL 2329275, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. June 5, 2008) (noting “community would 

be better served by having [defendant] in it and available to provide substance abuse 

treatment to others”).  

Sentencing Mr. Zhong to probation and community service, even if combined 

with a period of home detention, if necessary, meets the goal of both deterrence and 

punishment within the ambit of the parsimony clause. 

f. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(3): the kinds of sentences available. 

The Court has broad discretion in imposing sentence on Mr. Zhong. There is no 

mandatory minimum and a statutory maximum of 20 years. The advisory Guidelines 

as determined by Probation and the plea agreement is 27-33 months. Probation may 

be imposed for a term of not less than 1 nor more than 5 years. A term of supervised 

release of not more than 3 years. There is a mandatory special assessment of $100. 

The Guidelines advise a fine between $10,000 to $100,000 with a maximum of 

$250,000.00.   

The Court may consider the expected cost of a particular sentence. According 

to the Administrative Office of the United States Courts, the annual cost of 

imprisonment at a Bureau of Prisons facility is $44,258, while supervision by a 
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Probation Officer is only $4,454. (PSR ¶ 132).  It is therefore more almost ten times 

more expensive to incarcerate someone than supervise them on probation. See, e.g., 

United States v. Graham, 915 F.3d 456, 460 (7th Cir. 2019) (court’s consideration of 

incarceration costs, although not explicitly mentioned in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), 

appropriately played into its analysis of the cost benefit to society, and the benefit to 

the inmate when determining sentence); United States v. Scholar, 252 F.Supp.3d 711 

(WI E.D. 2017) (finding a lengthy period of home confinement would be as efficient, 

and less costly, than imprisonment as a form of punishment for defendant with 

serious health conditions). 

 Moreover, the First Step Act of 2018, P.L. No. 115-391 (“the Act”) reflects 

a bipartisan Congressional effort to impose substantial changes to the tough-on-

crime prison and sentencing laws of the 1980’s and 1990’s that led to an explosion 

in federal prison populations and costs. See United States v. Simons, 375 F.Supp.3d 

379 (E.D.N.Y. 2019). Among other things, the Court in that case cited a House 

Judiciary Committee report relied upon by Congress in voting overwhelmingly to 

pass the Act which found: 

… [the Bureau of Prisons] has a growing prison population that, 
because of its rising costs, is becoming a real and immediate threat to 
public safety. … If the current spending trajectory continues and we do 
not reduce the prison population and prison spending, there will 
continue to be fewer and fewer prosecutors to bring charges, fewer 
agents to investigate federal crimes, less support to state and local 
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criminal justice partners, less programs, and cuts along a range of other 
criminal justice priorities . . . 
 

H.R. Rep. No. 115-699, at 23-24 (2018) (internal citations omitted). Another source 

cited in Simons, supra. Is Ames Grawert et al., Ending Mass Incarceration: A 

Presidential Agenda, Brennan Center for Justice 1, 2 (2019); H.R. Rep. No 115-699, 

at 22 (2018) (explaining that Congress saw a need to reform the federal prison 

system “through the implementation of corrections policy reforms designed to 

enhance public safety by improving the effectiveness and efficiency of the federal 

prison system in order to control corrections spending, manage the prison 

population, and reduce recidivism.”) 

g. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(4): the sentencing range established by the guidelines. 

 As many courts and other commentators have observed, the Guidelines in 

general, and the fraud loss calculations in particular, lead to draconian recommended 

ranges for fraud offenses.  Instead of accurately positioning a defendant’s conduct 

along the sale of culpability as the Guidelines are meant to, these sentences allow 

inflated loss figures to dominate the Guidelines analysis to the exclusion of other 

factors both within the Guidelines and under Section 3553(a).  Judge Rakoff of the 

Southern District of New York has observed that the Guidelines have often “so run 

amok that they are patently absurd on their face” due to the “kind of ‘piling-on’ of 

points for which the guidelines have frequently ben criticized.” United States v. 
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Adelson, supra, 441 F.Supp. 2d 506, 510, 515 (S.D.N.Y. 2006), affirmed, 301 F. 

App’x 93 (2d Cir. 2008).  Commentators have expressed similar criticisms. See, e.g., 

Barry Boss and Kara Kapp, How the Economic Loss Guideline Level Lost Its Way, 

and How to Save It, 18 OHIO St. J. CRIM. L. 605, 617-20 (2021) (highlighting that 

the “loss tables are insensitive to motive.”); United States v. Musgrave, 647 Fed. 

Appx 529, 538 (6th Cir. 2016) (“But there is reason to believe that, because the loss 

Guidelines were not developed using an empirical approach based on date about past 

sentencing practices, it is particularly appropriate for variances.)  

 For these reasons, the “loss” number overstates the seriousness of Jimmy’s 

misconduct.    Nor is there any actual loss to any innocent victim – but rather a 

monumental gain to the government. 

h. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(6): the need to avoid unwarranted sentence disparities 
among defendants with similar records who have been found guilty of 
similar conduct. 
 

 A civil forfeiture complaint filed in the Northern District of California (USA 

V. 69370 BITCOIN, NDCA, 20-CV-07811,)18 alleged that in 2012, a person 

identified as Individual X, hacked into Silk Road and gained unauthorized and illegal 

access to and stole over 70,000 Bitcoin (40% more than taken by Jimmy Zhong) 

valued then at about $359,000 belonging to Silk Road.  According to the Complaint, 

 
18 Attached as Exhibit F. 
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Ross Ulbricht learned of Individual X’s online identity and threatened Individual X 

for return of the cryptocurrency to Ulbricht.  Individual X did not return the 

cryptocurrency but kept it and did not spend it.  The Complaint further alleges that 

on November 3, 2020, Individual X signed a Consent and Agreement to Forfeiture 

with the U.S. Attorney’s Office, Northern District of California in which he 

consented to the forfeiture of the Bitcoin to the United States government valued in 

excess of $4 billion.  Individual X was never prosecuted.  Indeed, defense counsel is 

unaware of any case in which a person was prosecuted after he stole Bitcoin from 

Silk Road and returned the Bitcoin. Unfortunately, that is not the situation here.  In 

any event, we urge that given the unique facts here, a non-custodial sentence would 

be consistent with sentences imposed in other white collar fraud cases in this and 

other districts. 

 Indeed, substantial variances have been afforded in cases with far worse 

conduct.  See for example, United States v. Stephen Jemal, 15 Cr. 570 (JRP) (EDPA 

June 20, 2019) ($8 million bank fraud. Court granted variance from 78 months to 18 

months incarceration); United States v. Jason Nissen, 17-cr-477 (PAE) (S.D.N.Y.) 

(Sept. 2019) (defendant convicted of $71 million Ponzi scheme.  Variance from 97 

months to 27 months granted based in part on defendant’s charitable endeavors and 

family circumstances); United States v. Lumiere, 16-cr-483 (S.D.N.Y.) (former 

portfolio manager at Visium Asset Management convicted after trial of securities 
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and wire fraud involving between $9.5 and $25 million loss to investors and millions 

of dollars in unlawful gain to defendant. Despite defendant’s “highly significant” 

role in the scheme and his attempt at blackmail to conceal his crimes, variance 

granted from 87-108 to 18 months’ imprisonment); United States v. Block, No. 16-

cr-595 (S.D.N.Y. 2017) (former CFO of a publicly traded real estate investment trust 

masterminded fraud to manipulate the company’s financial results resulting in $300 

million shareholder loss. Defendant also “brazenly” falsified key accounting 

numbers. Noting, among other things, the defendant’s clean criminal record before 

the offense and his “personal history” as a good father and friend, court imposed 

variance from 84 years to 18 months. See Brian Block sentenced to 18 Months In 

Prison, Investment News (Nov. 8, 2017), 

http://www.investmentnews.com/article/20171108/FREE/171109929/brian-block-

sentenced-to-18-months-in-prison); United States v. Corvine, No. 15-cr-00171 

(S.D.N.Y.) (conviction after a three-week trial for role in a complex scheme to profit 

from the manipulation of the price of securities while clients lost entire investment. 

Cervino also lied to the SEC during its investigation. Dkt. 362 at 3-7. Court 

sentenced defendant to one year and a day with a variance from 135-168 months, 

Judgment, No. 15-cr-00171, Dkt. 367 at 3.); United States v. Litvak, No. 13-cr-19 

(D. Conn. 2018), after trial Guidelines sentence of 108 months’ imprisonment 

rejected and sentence of two years imposed for sophisticated fraudulent conduct 
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affecting many victims, and causing millions of dollars in loss, in over 55 securities 

transactions over three years. Sentencing Tr., July 25, 2014, Dkt. 273 at 61:13-17, 

158:15-19); United States v. Graham, No. 06-cr-137 (D. Conn.), the defendant, an 

in-house attorney, convicted of conspiracy and fraud charges in a fraudulent 

reinsurance transaction. Court found fraud caused a loss of over $500 million and 

defendant affirmatively concealed the fraudulent nature of the transaction. Order of 

Oct 31, 2008, No. 06-cr-137, Dkt. 1164 at 15. Variance from sentence of life 

imprisonment and imposed a sentence of one year and one day, along with two years 

of supervised release. Judgment, No. 06-cr-137, Dkt. 1269 at 1); United States v. 

Caspersen, 16-cr-414 (JSR)(S.D.N.Y.), defendant defrauded friends and college 

classmates out of $36,000,000 in Ponzi scheme, using their money to make 

payments on a house and an apartment. Court imposed a variance from the 

defendant’s Guideline range of 151-188 to 48 months in prison.); United States v. 

Newkirk, 16-cr-1241 (JSR) (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 21, 2016), a securities fraud defendant 

convicted at trial was sentenced to a term of imprisonment of 6 months 

notwithstanding a Guidelines range of 135 to 168 months.) Three other defendants 

sentenced recently in the S.D.N.Y. with Guidelines ranges of 70-97 months, were 

sentenced, respectively, to terms of imprisonment of 24 months (United States v. 

Hochfeld, 13-cr-00021 (PAC)(S.D.N.Y. 2013); 24 months (United States v. Gray, 

15-cr-00297 (SHS) (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 25, 2016); and 30 months (United States v. 
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Hampton, 13-cr-301 (RWS) (S.D.N.Y. 2013). 

 Given these facts, and particularly the civil resolution in the matter in the 

Northern District of California referenced above, it would be in the interests of 

justice to avoid sentencing disparity by imposing a sentence of probation on Jimmy 

Zhong, allowing him to continue on the path he is on rebuilding his life as an honest 

and productive member of society.  

i. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(7): the need to provide restitution to any victims of the 
offense. 
 

 As detailed above, Silk Road and/or Ross Ulbricht never had a right to 

lawfully possess the Bitcoin that Jimmy took, and do not have a right to restitution. 

III. CONCLUSION - A SENTENCE OF FIVE YEARS OF PROBATION, 
COMBINED WITH A PERIOD OF HOME DETENTION, IF 
NECESSARY, IS SUFFICIENT BUT NOT GREATER THAN 
NECESSARY TO MEET THE GOALS OF SENTENCING. 
 
The history and characteristics of Jimmy Zhong, including his dysfunctional 

family life devoid of love and affection, autism, stunted emotional growth, social 

isolation, being bullied as a child, and his young age of 22 when he committed the 

crime help to put his actions into perspective when fashioning a reasonable sentence.  

Further, the nature and circumstances of the offense contain mitigating factors 

not seen in many other financial crime cases.  
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• The unplanned nature of the crime, combined with the utter simplicity of the 

criminal act.  

• Jimmy stopped the withdrawals on his own even though he could have 

continued to acquire additional Bitcoin undetected. 

• Silk Road and/or Ross Ulbricht had no right to possess the Bitcoin that Jimmy 

took.  They are not victims that need justice or that need restitution to be made 

whole financially.   

• The tacit after the fact approval by Ross Ulbricht of Jimmy’s withdrawal of 

the Bitcoin from Silk Road.  

• The staggering financial benefit to the Government from, 

o Jimmy’s taking the Bitcoin from Silk Road back in 2012, preventing 

Ulbricht from dissipating it; 

o Jimmy’s preservation of the overwhelming majority (~96%) of the 

Bitcoin for almost a decade; 

o The dramatic increase in value of Bitcoin since 2012; 

o Jimmy’s foresight back in 2017 to convert the Bitcoin Cash to Bitcoin; 

o Jimmy’s cooperation with the Government, with no promise of 

anything in return, giving the Government the ability to control billions 
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in dollars’ worth of Bitcoin that the Government would not have been 

able to control without Jimmy’s cooperation; and 

A variance is appropriate considering the Section 3553(a) factors and the 

mandate of the parsimony provision.  A felony conviction (and the life challenges it 

brings) coupled with a sentence of home detention, and probation amount to serious 

punishment.19  Such a sentence, when coupled with mental health treatment and 

community service accounts for what Jimmy did, who Jimmy is, and how he 

responded when his wrongdoing was brought to light. 

 March 24, 2023 

 
    Respectfully submitted, 
    BACHNER & ASSOCIATES, P.C. 

By: /s/ Michael F. Bachner  
Michael Bachner, Esq. 
111 Broadway, Suite 701 
New York, NY 10006 
O:  (212) 344-7778 
F:  (212) 344-7774 
Email: mb@bhlawfirm.com 
 
GARLAND, SAMUEL & LOEB, P.C. 
 
By: /s/ Donald F. Samuel 
Donald F. Samuel 
Email: dfs@gsllaw.com 

 
19 We submit that a fine is unwarranted given Mr. Zhong’ financial situation after forfeiture and 
his looming tax debts from the Bitcoin liquidated to satisfy the forfeiture. United States v. 
Elfgeeh, 515 F.3d 100, 136 (2d Cir. 2008).   
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By: /s/ John A. Garland 
John A. Garland 
Email: jag@gsllaw.com 
 
By: /s/ Amanda Clark Palmer 
Amanda Clark Palmer 
Email: aclark@gsllaw.com 
 
Garland, Samuel & Loeb, P.C. 
3151 Maple Drive 
Atlanta, GA 30305 
Work: (404) 262-2225 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on this 24th day of February 2023, I electronically filed 

SENTENCING MEMORANDUM SUBMITTED ON BEHALF OF JAMES 

ZHONG with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system which will 

automatically send email notification of such filing to all attorneys and parties of 

record. 

By: /s/ John A. Garland 
Garland, Samuel & Loeb, P.C. 
3151 Maple Drive 
Atlanta, GA 30305 
Work: (404) 262-2225 
Email: jag@gsllaw.com 
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Matthew W. Norman, M.D., LLC 
Twelve Piedmont Center, Suite 410, 3495 Piedmont Road, N.E., Atlanta, GA 30305 

404-495-5900     fax: 404-495-5901 
norman@matthewnormanmd.com 

 
 

 
March 31, 2022 

 
VIA E-MAIL ONLY 
 
Ms. Amanda Clark-Palmer 
Garland, Samuel, & Loeb, P.C. 
3151 Maple Drive  
Atlanta, GA 30305 
 
 Re:  Jimmy Zhong 

       
 

PSYCHIATRIC EXAMINATION 
           
Dear Ms. Clark-Palmer: 
 
Mr. Jimmy Zhong, a client whom you represent in a criminal matter, was evaluated pursuant to 
your request for a psychiatric evaluation.   
 
This report will discuss whether he has, or has a history of, any psychological or mental health 
conditions.  
 
The opinions stated in this report are to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, based on the 
information reviewed and obtained as of the date of the report.  Any additional information not 
yet reviewed may alter the opinions contained in this report. 
 
Mr. Zhong is currently under investigation by the United States Attorney for the Southern 
District of New York related to some bitcoin transactions from approximately 2012.   
  
SOURCES OF INFORMATION: 
 
Interview of Mr. Zhong, conducted by Matthew W. Norman, M.D., at the offices of Matthew W. 

Norman, MD, LLC, on March 18, 2022, for approximately two hours and ten minutes.   
 
The Ritvo Autism Asperger Diagnostic Scale-Revised (RAADS-R) completed by Mr. Zhong on 

March 18, 2022. 
 
The Personality Assessment Inventory (PAI) was completed by Mr. Zhong on March 18, 2022.  

An interpretive report was generated. 
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QUALIFICATIONS OF THE EXAMINER: 
 
I am enclosing a copy of my curriculum vitae, which states my qualifications to perform this 
examination. 
 
NOTIFICATION OF RIGHTS: 
 
At the outset of the evaluation, I read to Mr. Zhong my standard Advisory Notice.  This notice 
included informing him of his attorney’s request, that his psychiatric state would be evaluated, 
that the evaluation was not confidential, that anything he told me I might be asked to testify 
about in court, and that a copy of this report would be sent only to you.  Mr. Zhong agreed to 
proceed with the evaluation.  
 
DEFENDANT'S ACCOUNT OF MENTAL FUNCTIONING: 
 
Mr. Zhong is a 31-year-old male who denied any formal psychiatric history; however, he has 
noted issues with socialization throughout his life.   
 
Mr. Zhong complained of long-standing insomnia.  He stated that he has had “really bad 
insomnia” for as long as he can remember.  He reported that he “can’t stop thinking.”  He 
reported his “most productive hours are between 10 PM and 4 AM.”  If he needs to be 
somewhere on a subsequent morning, he takes over-the-counter ZzzQuil.  This medication 
contains diphenhydramine (i.e., Benadryl), which is a sedating anti-histamine.   
 
Mr. Zhong reported that the ZzzQuil is effective only “sometimes.”  He will add melatonin (an 
herbal supplement) about once or twice per week.  He has not seen a medical provider to address 
his insomnia. 
 
Mr. Zhong reported difficulties in social relationships since childhood.  He reported that his 
parents “were never there.”  He said: “They never seemed to care.  They were never nice.  I got 
out of there as soon as I could.”  He reported that he left for college at 18 years old.  He does not 
speak or have a relationship with his parents.   
 
Mr. Zhong’s mother, Xiaohui, is a nurse.  While growing up, she worked night shift and was 
asleep when he was home or at work.  His father, Sheng, “ran some weird shop.  He’d pick up 
anything cheap and sell it.”  Both his parents were born in China.  As far as he is aware, his 
mother still resides in the same house in Lawrenceville that he left when he was 18 years old.  
His parents separated and divorced when he was in “high school or middle school.” 
 
Mr. Zhong also has a younger sister, Crystal (born 1996).  He stated they do not speak.  He said, 
“I never had a relationship there either.”   
 
In addition to strained family relationships, Mr. Zhong recalled being bullied starting at an early 
age.  He moved with his family to Cobb County, Georgia, in 4th grade.  He attended Cedar Hill 
Elementary, Richards Middle School, and Central Gwinnett High School.  He graduated from 
Central Gwinnett High School in 2008.  He recalled riding the bus to school and then riding the 
bus home.  He “couldn’t go anywhere and had no friends.”   

Case 1:22-cr-00606-PGG   Document 30-1   Filed 03/24/23   Page 2 of 9



 
 

Re: Jimmy Zhong 
 

 
Page 3 of 9 

 

 
Mr. Zhong stated, “[Growing up] was crappy.  I got picked on a lot.  I never made any friends.  I 
still have few friends.”  He indicated that college was “when life really started.”  When asked 
what others picked on him about, he said: “Being fat.  Being ugly.  Being weird.”   
 
Mr. Zhong reported the most traumatic bullying experience he recalled was “one kid pantsing 
[him] at a football game.”  While a junior in high school, he recalled another student pulling Mr. 
Zhong’s pants down in front of other people at a football game.  He also recalled that this same 
student would “just walk up and punch” him.  He recalled, “I always hated school.  At least 
upstairs in my house, I was by myself being on a computer.”   
 
Mr. Zhong recalled his computer provided an escape to his school and home-life angst.  He “got 
on the computer every single day.”  He learned to program in middle school.  He learned BASIC, 
C, C Sharp, and C++.  He stated that “once you know a couple of [computer languages], you can 
jump into any other one.”  He spontaneously reported that the computer allowed him to fantasize 
about “making up the perfect life or something.”   
 
Academically, Mr. Zhong had no noted difficulties.  He reported having a 3.6 or 3.8 GPA in high 
school.  He reported scoring 1470 on the SAT.  He gained admittance to the University of 
Georgia on the HOPE scholarship.  He thought his academic achievement would convince his 
parents to “show some attention” to him.  This did not occur according to him.  His father was 
“never there.  He was out working or down in the basement. … [His mother] was asleep a lot.” 
 
Mr. Zhong recalled thinking that obtaining an automobile would help solve his social woes.  He 
earned “side money” by writing “apps for people.”  He would be paid $300 to $400 each.  He 
earned enough money to buy a 1981 Mercedes 300SD.  He thought others would be attracted to 
him through a nice automobile.   
 
Mr. Zhong matriculated to University of Georgia in Athens, Georgia, in Fall 2008.  He graduated 
in 2014 with a bachelor’s degree in computer science.  He denied attending graduate school or 
obtaining other formal education.   
 
While in college, Mr. Zhong started “making money in Bitcoin.”  He recalled reading about 
mining Bitcoin in a programming forum.  He began mining Bitcoin in “the early days.”  He 
recalled this being around 2009.  He was able to mine “a couple of hundred coins per day.”    
 
Once Mr. Zhong had some money through mining Bitcoin, he tried to become social.  He 
reported “partying in college.”  He drank alcohol excessively and used cocaine.  He tried to 
improve his social life.  He recalled converting some of his Bitcoin into $700,000 in cash.  He 
stated he did this so that he would have a “case full of money like in the movies.”  He hoped the 
visual appeal of the cash would impress a female into having sexual relations with him.  He 
stated his plan did not work.  He would also give away small devices with 50 Bitcoin on it as 
gifts.  At some time, these gifts were worth $1 million each.  The cash and some of these “gifts” 
were some of what he alleged was stolen from his Athens apartment during Spring Break 2018 
or 2019.   
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Currently, Mr. Zhong reported only having “two best friends.”  However, he stated they both 
have “new jobs,” and he does not have as much contact with them.  He said, “Sometimes I feel 
[their lack of contact with me is] because I’m broke.”  He stated he spends most of his time alone 
and by himself.   
 
Mr. Zhong has not had sex with anyone, except “once when [he] paid for it.”  He desires to have 
relationships with others but has been generally unsuccessful.   
 
On psychiatric review of symptoms, Mr. Zhong denied mania, obsessions or compulsions, 
hallucinations, delusions, ideas of reference, and ongoing panic attacks.  He considered himself 
generally free of anxiety until this past fall.  He denied overt suicidal thoughts; however, he has 
“sometimes [wondered] what’s the point [of life] if [he’s] going to be alone and going to be 
broke.”  He added, “I’m too scared to ever” attempt suicide.  He denied suicide attempts.   
 
PERSONAL HISTORY:  
 
Mr. Zhong was born on May 24, 1990, in New Jersey.  He stated that he moved with his family 
from New Jersey to Indiana to North Carolina and to Georgia.   
 
Educationally, Mr. Zhong attended Cedar Hill Elementary School and Richards Middle School.   
He graduated from Central Gwinnett High School in 2008.  He then enrolled at University of 
Georgia.  He graduated in 2014.   
 
Occupationally, Mr. Zhong has rarely worked for paid income.  He currently has a CNC machine 
and is machining parts on demand.  He enjoys making custom automobile parts.  He also builds 
his own computers.   
 
Mr. Zhong has never been married.  He denied having any children.  He is currently living at his 
residence in Gainesville, Georgia.  He reported having a dog.   
 
Mr. Zhong denied ever being in the military and is not a veteran. 
 
Mr. Zhong reported being arrested for DUI as well as possession of cocaine.  He stated he pled 
guilty to the cocaine charge, completed one year of probation under the First Offender Act, and 
this has been expunged from his record. 
 
PSYCHIATRIC HISTORY:  
 
Mr. Zhong denied any psychiatric history.  He denied ever seeing a psychiatrist or psychologist.  
He denied taking psychiatric medications.  He denied any psychiatric hospitalizations.  He 
denied any suicide attempts.   
 
Mr. Zhong reported drinking alcohol for the first time at a party in high school.  He started 
drinking alcohol regularly in college.  He drank “every weekend” in college.  He had numerous 
blackouts.  He currently drinks “once or twice per week.”  He tried marijuana but “didn’t like it.”  
He had “one horrible experience with hallucinogenic mushrooms.  He tried MDMA “once at a 
concert.”  He used cocaine “on weekends” for about five or six years.  He last used on his 26th 
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birthday.  He denied other illicit drug use.   
 
MEDICAL HISTORY:  
 
Mr. Zhong’s past medical history includes LASIK surgery between 2012 and 2014.  He reported 
having “very thick glasses” since middle school.  He denied any other medical problems.  He 
denied any concussions, traumatic brain injuries, or seizures. 
 
Mr. Zhong denied known drug allergies.  
 
Mr. Zhong reported taking a multi-vitamin daily.  He also takes over-the-counter ZzzQuil most 
nights and occasionally melatonin.     
 
PSYCHOLOGICAL / OBJECTIVE TESTING: 
 
RAADS-R 
 
The Ritvo Autism-Asperger’s Diagnostic Scale – Revised is a valid and reliable instrument to 
assist in the diagnosis of adults with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD).  The 80-question scale 
was recently revised and published in the peer-reviewed Journal of Autism and Developmental 
Disorders (18 November 2010).  The scale is based on a Likert scale and a score of 65 or greater 
is consistent with a clinical diagnosis of ASD. Mr. Zhong was administered the scale on March 
18, 2022.  His score was 69, which is consistent (i.e., greater than 65) with a clinical diagnosis of 
Autism Spectrum Disorder.  His score on the Social Relatedness subscale was significantly 
elevated, which was consistent with his clinical exam.   
 
PAI 
 
Mr. Zhong completed the Personality Assessment Inventory as part of the current examination.  
A Clinical Interpretive Report was generated based on his answers.   
 
The Personality Assessment Inventory (PAI) is a self-administered, objective test of personality 
designed to provide information and is among the most widely used measures in legal cases 
involving emotional injury.  The PAI contains 344 items, which comprise 22 non-overlapping 
scales: 4 validity scales, 11 clinical scales, 5 treatment scales, and 2 interpersonal scales.  
 
Mr. Zhong’s Clinical Interpretive Report was as follows: 
 
Validity of Results 
 
The PAI provides a number of validity indices that are designed to provide an assessment of 
factors that could distort the results of testing. Such factors could include failure to complete test 
items properly, carelessness, reading difficulties, confusion, exaggeration, malingering, or 
defensiveness. For this protocol, the number of uncompleted items is within acceptable limits. 
 
Also evaluated is the extent to which Mr. Zhong attended appropriately and responded 
consistently to the content of test items. Mr. Zhong's scores on these scales suggest that he did 
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attend to item content in responding to PAI items; however, there appears to have been some 
inconsistent responses to similar items, and this inconsistency could affect test results. Thus, the 
interpretive hypotheses that follow in this report should be reviewed cautiously. 
 
The degree to which response styles may have affected or distorted the report of 
symptomatology on the inventory is also assessed. The scores for these indicators fall in the 
normal range, suggesting that Mr. Zhong answered in a reasonably forthright manner and did not 
attempt to present an unrealistic or inaccurate impression that was either more negative or more 
positive than the clinical picture would warrant. 
 
Clinical Features 
 
The PAI clinical profile reveals no marked elevations that should be considered to indicate the 
presence of clinical psychopathology. Scores on one or more scales do, however, show moderate 
elevations that may reflect sources of difficulty for Mr. Zhong. These problem areas may be 
related to current stressors or complicated life circumstances. These potential problem areas are 
described below. 
 
Mr. Zhong reports some difficulties consistent with relatively mild or transient depressive 
symptomatology.  
 
Mr. Zhong describes himself as rather moody and others may view him as overly sensitive. He 
may be dissatisfied with his more important relationships and uncertain about major life goals. 
 
According to Mr. Zhong's self-report, he describes NO significant problems in the following 
areas: unusual thoughts or peculiar experiences; antisocial behavior; problems with empathy; 
undue suspiciousness or hostility; unusually elevated mood or heightened activity; marked 
anxiety; problematic behaviors used to manage anxiety; difficulties with health or physical 
functioning. Also, he reports NO significant problems with alcohol or drug abuse or dependence. 
 
Self Concept 
 
The self-concept of Mr. Zhong appears to involve a self-evaluation that has both positive and 
negative aspects. His attitudes about himself may vary from states of pessimism and self-doubt 
to periods of relative self-confidence and self-satisfaction. Some fluctuation in self-esteem may 
be observed as a function of his current circumstances, although these fluctuations will not be 
extreme and are comparable to those experienced by most adults. During stressful times in 
particular, he is prone to be somewhat self-critical, uncertain, and indecisive. 
 
Interpersonal and Social Environment 
 
Mr. Zhong's interpersonal style seems best characterized as self-effacing and lacking confidence 
in social interactions. He is likely to have difficulty in having his needs met in personal 
relationships and instead will subordinate his own interests to those of others in a manner that 
may seem self-punitive. His failure to assert himself may result in mistreatment or exploitation 
by others, and it does not appear that this interpersonal strategy has been effective in maintaining 
his most important relationships. 
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In considering the social environment of Mr. Zhong with respect to perceived stressors and the 
availability of social supports with which to deal with these stressors, his responses indicate that 
he is likely to be experiencing notable stress and turmoil in a number of major life areas. A 
review of his current employment situation, financial status, and family and/or close 
relationships will clarify the importance of these in the overall clinical picture. A primary source 
of stress may involve relationship issues because he believes that his social relationships offer 
him little support; family relationships may be somewhat distant or ridden with conflict, and 
friends may not be available when needed. Interventions directed at key problematic 
relationships (such as those involving family or marital problems) may be of some use in 
alleviating what may be a major source of dissatisfaction. 
 
FORMAL MENTAL STATUS EXAMINATION:  
 
Mr. Zhong is a 31-year-old male who was cooperative overall with the evaluation and was 
oriented to person, place, and time.  He was casually dressed.  He was adequately groomed.  He 
appeared his stated age.  He was generally open with most of his responses.  He was extremely 
shy and socially awkward.  He made very poor eye contact.  He often looked away from me 
when answering questions.  He had difficulty with social connectedness.  These are consistent 
with Autism Spectrum Disorder. He did not appear evasive with his responses.  He ambulated 
without difficulty or assistance.   
 
Mr. Zhong’s speech was normal in rate, volume, and tone.  He described his mood as “okay.”  
His affect (an objective observation of expressed emotion) was odd.  There was no evidence of 
psychomotor agitation or retardation.  His thought processes were logical and goal directed.   
 
Mr. Zhong denied any hallucinations, delusions, or ideas of reference. He stated that he did 
worry more than the average person. He reported some symptoms of a depressed mood most of 
the day or nearly every day.  He denied symptoms associated with mania.  He denied any current 
suicidal ideation or homicidal ideation.   
 
Mr. Zhong’s judgment was fair.  I estimate his intelligence to be in the above average to superior 
range based on his vocabulary, ability to abstract, educational achievement, and judgment. 
 
MULTI-AXIAL DIAGNOSIS EXPLANATION: 
 
The American Psychiatric Association’s Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 
Fourth Edition (DSM-5), published in May 2013, no longer utilizes a multi-axial system.  
 
DIAGNOSIS: 
 

Autism Spectrum Disorder 
Cocaine Use Disorder, in full sustained remission 
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DISCUSSION: 
 
Mr. Jimmy Zhong is a 31-year-old male who was referred by you for the purpose of conducting a 
psychiatric evaluation. 
 
Autism Spectrum Disorder is recognized in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental 
Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5).  Autism Spectrum Disorder is recognized as a continuous and 
life-long developmental disorder characterized by severe and sustained impairment in social 
interaction and the development of restricted, repetitive patterns of behavior, interests, and 
activities without other language and cognitive developmental delays.   
 
In my opinion, Mr. Zhong has symptoms consistent with Autism Spectrum Disorder.  During the 
interview, I conducted specific psychological testing to rule in (or rule out) a diagnosis of Autism 
Spectrum Disorder (ASD).  This further testing strongly supported the diagnosis of Autism 
Spectrum Disorder.  Thus, this Autism Spectrum Disorder is the primary diagnosis and area of 
clinical concern.   
 
Autism Spectrum Disorder: According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental 
Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5), Autism Spectrum Disorder is characterized with persistent 
deficits in social communication and social interaction across multiple contexts, as manifested by 
deficits in social-emotional reciprocity, non-verbal communication behaviors used for social 
interaction, and developing and maintaining and understanding relationships.  The illness is also 
characterized by restricted and repetitive interests and behaviors. Language and cognitive 
development may remain intact and normal.   
 
In my opinion, Mr. Zhong has many characteristics of Autism Spectrum Disorder.  He has 
significant abnormalities in social interactions as evidenced by his lack of normal social and peer 
relationships. His social relationships and connectedness are nearly non-existent.  Additional 
evidence of Autism Spectrum Disorder includes Mr. Zhong’s responses and scores on valid 
measures of Autism Spectrum symptoms. Thus, both subjective and objective data support the 
diagnosis. 
 
In addition, many of Mr. Zhong’s behaviors in college are consistent with Autism Spectrum 
Disorder.  ASD would make certain social decisions difficult for Mr. Zhong.  This difficulty 
would include making decisions to try to change his social relations with others in a non-typical 
way.  That is, he has impairments in initiating and maintaining social relationships in a normal 
way.  For example, giving away large sums of Bitcoin and possessing large sums of cash were an 
attempt (albeit atypical) of a way to gain social relatedness.  These behaviors are not as much 
conscious intention on Mr. Zhong’s part but more a lack of social development consistent with 
his illness. 
 
Of note, Mr. Zhong does not, in my opinion, meet criteria for Bipolar Disorder, Schizophrenia, 
active substance use disorder, or Anti-social Personality Disorder.  
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CLINICAL RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
In my opinion, Mr. Zhong should consider engaging in psychotherapy with a competent 
psychotherapist well-versed in working with Autism Spectrum Disorder.  I could highly 
recommend Tyler Whitney, Psy.D. (770-442-9447 x112) in Roswell, Georgia.  Dr. Whitney 
works with individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder.  The Emory Autism Center 
(https://psychiatry.emory.edu/programs/autism/) also works with adults with Autism Spectrum 
Disorder and may be another good resource for Mr. Zhong.   
 
In my opinion, Mr. Zhong does not require psychiatric medication at this time.   
 
If you have any questions about this report, I would be happy to answer them.  Please feel free to 
telephone me at 404-495-5900. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Matthew W. Norman, M.D., DFAPA 
Board Certified, Psychiatry & Forensic Psychiatry, American Board of Psychiatry & Neurology 
Adjunct Associate Professor, Department of Psychiatry, Emory University School of Medicine 
 
enc: curriculum vitae 
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March 20, 2023 
 
Hon. Paul G. Gardephe 
United States District Court Judge 
United States Courthouse 
40 Centre Street 
New York, NY 10007 
 
Dear Honorable Judge Gardephe: 
 
I am writing this letter to attest to the character of Jimmy Zhong, whom I have known for over 15 
years. Since meeting, I have had numerous opportunities to interact with Jimmy in both personal 
and social contexts, and I can confidently state that he is genuinely a friend with a good heart, 
someone who has a great attitude, he is always smiling and happy to be amongst friends. Jimmy 
has always valued his relationships and friendships. He communicates to his friends regularly and 
genuinely seems interested in the lives of his friends and wants to be as loving of a friend he can 
be. 
 
Jimmy has always conducted himself with integrity and has always showed respect to others he 
interacts with. He has always treated me with respect and dignity, and I have not seen him belittle 
others regardless of their relationship to Jimmy. I value my friendship with Jimmy greatly. He has 
always been available to talk when I needed someone to vent to. He has always been willing to 
assist to help me move, build furniture, fix my electronics and lawn equipment, and never expects 
anything in return. He treats me with dignity and compassion and I am thankful to call him a friend. 
Throughout the years, I have seen Jimmy develop new friendships and I have always seen Jimmy 
treat new friendships with respect. Jimmy treats each of his friends the same, and I have admired 
Jimmy for being such a great friend who is willing to listen and consider their feelings and 
perspectives. 
 
In conclusion, I wholeheartedly endorse Jimmy and can vouch for his character without hesitation. 
He is a genuine person who loves hangout out with friends, is always willing to lend a hand when 
a friend is in need, would be the first person to volunteer to help if asked, and has always been a 
hardworking man. Jimmy will be a friendship I have for the remainder of my life and I consider 
Jimmy to be one of my closest friends. Jimmy is an incredible, intelligent human being who 
continues to enlighten those around him and I am proud to call him my friend. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Julian Pisczak 
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From: Christina Ross <christina.elizabeth.ross@gmail.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, February 15, 2023 7:44 PM 
To: Jimmy Zhong 
Subject: Letter 
  
Dear Hon. Paul G. Gardephe, 
 
My name is Christina Elizabeth Ross and I am a cardiology nurse practitioner. I met Jimmy Zhong in 
2014 through my boyfriend at the time, Edward Graham Newsome. Jimmy has been the best friend I 
have ever had. Ever since I met him, he would drop what he is doing to go help any of his friends in time 
of need. Graham Newsome and I eventually got married in 2018 and Jimmy was the Best Man in our 
wedding. Jimmy has been there for me during difficult times and times of trouble including my divorce 
and getting through school. I always know that I can count on him to be there for me during times of 
need. My ex-husband had mental health issues that lead to hospitalizations and at the drop of a dime 
Jimmy would drive over 2 hours to get to us when called whether it was to just be there for us 
emotionally or to help take care of our dog while I was at the hospital with Graham. Jimmy has helped 
me move numerous times because I never hired movers. I do not know too many people that would be 
willing to help pack up their house and help them move.  
 
I heard over the years that Jimmy had a rough childhood and had to fend for himself at a very early age. 
I grew up in a very tight-knit family and could not believe when I found out that he never celebrated 
Holdiays and his family never celebrated his birthday. His mother and father were never there to support 
him and were not even present for his Graduation ceremony from the University of Georgia. My family 
and I took Jimmy under our wing and consider him as part of our family. Over the years, he has come to 
celebrate holidays like Thanksgiving and Christmas with us. He is such a kind soul and I am thankful to 
know him and call him one of my very best friends. I strongly believe that I would not be where I am 
today without his constant love, friendship, and support.  
 
Please feel free to reach out to me if you have any questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Christina E. Ross 
404-797-7377 
christina.elizabeth.ross@gmail.com 
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DAVID L. ANDERSON (CABN 149604)  
United States Attorney 
 
HALLIE HOFFMAN (CABN 210020) 
Chief, Criminal Division 
 
DAVID COUNTRYMAN (CABN 226995)  
CHRIS KALTSAS (NYBN 5460902) 
CLAUDIA QUIROZ (CABN 254419) 
WILLIAM FRENTZEN (LABN 24421) 
Assistant United States Attorneys 
 

450 Golden Gate Avenue, Box 36055 
San Francisco, California 94102-3495 
Telephone: (415) 436-7303 
FAX: (415) 436-7234 
david.countryman@usdoj.gov 

 
Attorneys for United States of America 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff,  

v. 

Approximately 69,370 Bitcoin (BTC), Bitcoin 
Gold (BTG), Bitcoin SV (BSV), and Bitcoin 
Cash (BCH) seized from 
1HQ3Go3ggs8pFnXuHVHRytPCq5fGG8Hbhx,  
 

Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO. CV 20-7811 RS 
 
AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR FORFEITURE 
 

   
NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a judicial forfeiture action, as authorized by 18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(1)(A), 

981(a)(1)(C), 981(b), and 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(6), involving the seizure of the following property: 

• Approximately 69,370.22491543 Bitcoin (BTC), Bitcoin Gold (BTG), Bitcoin SV (BSV), 

Bitcoin Cash (BCH), obtained from 1HQ3Go3ggs8pFnXuHVHRytPCq5fGG8Hbhx; 

(hereinafter, collectively, the “Defendant Property”), as property constituting, or derived from, any 
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proceeds of 18 U.S.C. § 371 (Conspiracy), 18 U.S.C. § 1030(a)(2) and (a)(4) (Computer Hacking), 

property furnished or intended to be furnished by a person in exchange for a controlled substance, or 

money traceable to such an exchange, or money used or intended to be used to facilitate such a violation 

(Narcotics Sales), and property involved in violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1956 and 1956(h) (Money 

Laundering and Conspiracy), and thereby forfeitable pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(l)(A), 981(a)(1)(C), 

981(b), and 21 U.S.C. § 881. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2.  This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1345 and 1355(a), and 18 U.S.C. §§ 

981(a)(l)(A), 981(a)(1)(C), 981(b), and 21 U.S.C. § 881. 

3. Venue is proper because the defendant currency was seized in the Northern District of 

California.  28 U.S.C. §§ 1355(b) and 1395. 

4. Intra-district venue is proper in the San Francisco Division within the Northern District of 

California. 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff is the United States of America. 

6. The Defendant Property is approximately 69,370.22491543 Bitcoin (BTC), 

69,370.10730857 Bitcoin Gold (BTG), 69,370.10710518 Bitcoin SV (BSV), and 69,370.12818037 

Bitcoin Cash (BCH), obtained from 1HQ3Go3ggs8pFnXuHVHRytPCq5fGG8Hbhx on or about 

November 3, 2020. 

FACTS 

7. From 2011 until October 2013, when it was seized by law enforcement, Silk Road was the 

most sophisticated and extensive criminal marketplace on the Internet, serving as a sprawling black 

market bazaar where unlawful goods and services, including illegal drugs of virtually all varieties, were 

bought and sold regularly by the site’s users. While in operation, Silk Road was used by thousands of 

drug dealers and other unlawful vendors to distribute hundreds of kilograms of illegal drugs and other 

unlawful goods and services to well over 100,000 buyers, and to launder hundreds of millions of dollars 

derived from these unlawful transactions. 
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8. For example, contemporaneous with its seizure, there were nearly 13,000 listings for 

controlled substances on the website‚ listed under the categories “Cannabis‚” “Dissociatives,” “Ecstasy‚” 

“Intoxicants,” “Opioids‚” “Precursors‚” “Prescription,” “Psychedelics‚" and “Stimulants‚” among others. 

Clicking on the link for a particular listing brings up a picture and description of the drugs being offered 

for sale, such as “HIGH QUALITY #4 HEROIN ALL ROCK” or “5gr UNCUT Crystal Cocaine!!”. 

9. During its operation, law enforcement agents made over 100 individual undercover 

purchases of controlled substances from Silk Road vendors.  The substances purchased in these 

undercover transactions have been various Schedule I and II drugs, including ecstasy‚ cocaine, heroin‚ 

LSD, and others. Samples of these purchases were laboratory-tested and have typically shown high purity 

levels of the items that were advertised by Silk Road.  Based on the postal markings of the packages in 

which the drugs arrived, these purchases appear to have been filled by vendors located in over ten 

different countries‚ including the United States.  Law enforcement agents also made undercover 

purchases of hacking services on Silk Road, including purchases of malicious software such as password 

stealers and remote access tools. 

10. Contemporaneous with the seizure of Silk Road, there were 159 listings on the site under 

the category “Services.” Most concerned computer services: for example, one listing was by a vendor to 

hack into Facebook‚ Twitter, and other social networking accounts of the customer's choosing‚ offering 

that “You can Read, Write‚ Upload‚ Delete‚ View All Personal Info”; another offered tutorials teaching 

“22 different methods” for hacking ATM machines. Other listings offered services that were likewise 

criminal in nature.  For example‚ one listing was for “HUGE Blackmarket Contact List,” which described 

lists of “connects” for “Services” such as “Anonymous Bank Accounts,” “Counterfeit Bills 

(CAD/GBP/EUR/USD),” “Firearms + Ammunition‚” “Stolen Info (CC [credit card], Paypal)‚” and 

“Hitmen (10+ countries).” 

11. The only form of payment accepted on Silk Road was Bitcoin. 

12. All told, Silk Road generated sales revenue totaling over 9.5 million Bitcoin, and collected 

commissions from these sales totaling over 600,000 Bitcoin. 

13. Silk Road used a so-called “tumbler” to process Bitcoin transactions in a manner designed 

to frustrate the tracking of individual transactions through the Blockchain.  According to the Silk Road 
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wiki web page‚ Silk Road’s tumbler “sends all payments through a complex‚ semi-random series of 

dummy transactions‚ . . . making it nearly impossible to link your payment with any coins leaving the 

site.”  In other words‚ if a buyer makes a payment on Silk Road, the tumbler obscures any link between 

the buyer’s Bitcoin address and the vendor’s Bitcoin address where the Bitcoins end up—making it 

fruitless to use the Blockchain to follow the money trail involved in the transaction‚ even if the buyer’s 

and vendor’s Bitcoin addresses are both known. The only function served by Silk Road’s implementation 

of such “tumblers” is to assist with the laundering of criminal proceeds. 

14. In February 2015, a federal jury convicted Silk Road creator Ross Ulbricht on seven 

counts including conspiracy to distribute narcotics and money laundering.  Ulbricht had moved to San 

Francisco, within the Northern District of California, prior to his arrest and was operating Silk Road from 

the Northern District of California.  He was arrested in San Francisco and processed through the United 

States District Court for the Northern District of California before being removed to the Southern District 

of New York for prosecution. 

15. In 2020, law enforcement officers used a third party bitcoin attribution company to 

analyze Bitcoin transactions executed by Silk Road.  From this review they observed 54 transactions that 

were sent from Bitcoin addresses controlled by Silk Road, to two Bitcoin addresses: 

1BADznNF3W1gi47R65MQs754KB7zTaGuYZ and 1BBqjKsYuLEUE9Y5WzdbzCtYzCiQgHqtPN 

totaling 70,411.46 BTC (valued at approximately $354,000 at the time of transfer).   

16. The individual amounts that were transferred were mainly round Bitcoin amounts and 

close together in time.  For example, 10 of the transfers occurred at approximately 3:59 a.m. and each 

transfer was for exactly 2,500 Bitcoin.  This pattern of withdrawals and the amount that was withdrawn 

was not typical for a Silk Road user.  Specifically, a review of other withdrawals from Silk Road revealed 

Bitcoin amounts that were mostly less than 100 Bitcoin. These 54 transactions were not noted in the Silk 

Road database as a vendor withdrawal or a Silk Road employee withdrawal and therefore appear to 

represent Bitcoin that was stolen from Silk Road.  

17. On approximately April 9, 2013, the Bitcoin addresses that received the 70,411.46 Bitcoin 

from Silk Road sent 69,471.082201 (approximately $14 million at the time of transfer) to 

1HQ3Go3ggs8pFnXuHVHRytPCq5fGG8Hbhx (hereafter “1HQ3”).   
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18. On approximately April 23, 2015, 1HQ3 sent 101 Bitcoin (approximately $23,700) to 

BTC-e, a company that provided Bitcoin related services and operated as an unlicensed cryptocurrency 

exchange.  In January 2017, BTC-e and a Russian operator of BTC-e were indicted in the Northern 

District of California for operating an unlicensed money transmitting business and for money laundering 

through the exchange.   

19. Between April 2015 and November 2020, the remainder of the funds, 69,370.082201 

BTC, remained in 1HQ3.1  As of November 3, 2020, 1HQ3 had a balance of 69,370.22491543 Bitcoin 

(valued at approximately $1 Billion as of November 4, 2020). 

20.  In August 2017, Bitcoin split into two cryptocurrencies, commonly known as a hard fork. 

Hard fork coin splits are created via changes of the blockchain rules and share a transaction history with 

Bitcoin up to the time of the split. The first hard fork split occurred on August 1, 2017, resulting in the 

creation of Bitcoin Cash (BCH).  When this split occurred, any Bitcoin address that had a Bitcoin balance 

now had the same balance on the Bitcoin blockchain and on the Bitcoin Cash blockchain.  A search for 

1HQ3 on the Bitcoin Cash blockchain revealed a balance of approximately 69,370.12818037 BCH prior 

to the Government’s seizure. Much like the aforementioned hard fork of Bitcoin and BCH, there were 

subsequent hard forks of Bitcoin that resulted in the creation of Bitcoin Gold (BTG) and Bitcoin SV 

(BSV).  Review of the BTG and BSV blockchains revealed that 1HQ3 held a balance of 

69,370.10730857 BTG and 69,370.10710518 BSV prior to the Government’s seizure.   

21. Individual X, whose identity is known to the government, was determined to have been 

involved in a transaction that related to 1HQ3.   

22. According to an investigation conducted by the Criminal Investigation Division of the 

Internal Revenue Service and the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Northern District of California, 

Individual X was the individual who moved the cryptocurrency from Silk Road.  According to the 

investigation, Individual X was able to hack into Silk Road and gain unauthorized and illegal access to 

Silk Road and thereby steal the illicit cryptocurrency from Silk Road and move it into wallets that 

                                              
1 Because Bitcoin addresses are public, individuals are able to identify Bitcoin addresses with 

large balances.  Individuals will often send minimal amounts of Bitcoin to these addresses for unknown 
reasons.  For example, on November 3, 2020, 1HQ3 received 0.00010999 bitcoin (approximately $1.51) 
from an unknown individual.   
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Individual X controlled.  According to the investigation, Ulbricht became aware of Individual X’s online 

identity and threatened Individual X for return of the cryptocurrency to Ulbricht.  Individual X did not 

return the cryptocurrency but kept it and did not spend it.  

23. On November 3, 2020, Individual X signed a Consent and Agreement to Forfeiture with 

the U.S. Attorney’s Office, Northern District of California.  In that agreement, Individual X, consented to 

the forfeiture of the Defendant Property to the United States government. 

24. On November 3, 2020, the United States took custody of the Defendant Property from 

1HQ3. 

VIOLATION 

The United States incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs one through 24 as 

though fully set forth. 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(A) provides for civil and criminal forfeiture of 

any property, real or personal, involved in a transaction or attempted transaction in violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Sections 1956, 1957, or 1960, and any property traceable to such property.  

Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) provides for the civil forfeiture of any property, 

real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to any offense constituting a 

“specified unlawful activity” or a conspiracy to commit such offense. Title 18, United States Code, Sections 

1956(c)(7) and 1961(1) define specified unlawful activity to include Computer Hacking, in violation of Title 

18, United States Code, Section 1030, and conspiracy to commit Computer Hacking. 

Title 21, United States Code, Section 881(a)(6) provides for the forfeiture of all moneys, 

negotiable instruments, securities, or other things of value furnished or intended to be furnished by any 

person in exchange for a controlled substance or listed chemical, all proceeds traceable to such an 

exchange and all money used or intended to be used to facilitate any violation of Subchapter I, Chapter 

13, Subchapter I of Title 21 United States Code. 

In light of the foregoing, and considering the totality of the circumstances, there is probable cause 

to believe that the Defendant Property represents proceeds traceable to computer hacking in violation 18 

U.S.C. § 1030(a) and conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.  As such, the Defendant Property is 

forfeitable pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(l)(C).  Additionally, there is probable cause to believe that the 
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Defendant Property represents property traceable to narcotics trafficking.  As such, the Defendant 

Property is forfeitable pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(6).  To the extent the Defendant Property includes 

funds that did not originate as proceeds from the illegal activities discussed herein, those funds were 

“involved in” money laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956 because they were comingled with and 

used to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership or control of the criminal proceeds, 

or were involved in a conspiracy to launder such proceeds.  Accordingly, the Defendant Property is 

forfeitable pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(l)(A) and 981(b). 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff United States of America requests that due process issue to enforce the 

forfeiture of the Defendant Property; that notice be given to all interested parties to appear and show 

cause why forfeiture should not be decreed; that judgment of forfeiture be entered; that the Court enter 

judgment forfeiting the Defendant Property; and that the United States be awarded such other relief as 

may be proper and just. 

 

DATED: 11/20/2020    
      Respectfully submitted, 
      DAVID L. ANDERSON 
      United States Attorney 
 
 
      /s/ David Countryman  
      DAVID COUNTRYMAN 
      CHRIS KALTSAS 
      CLAUDIA QUIROZ 
      WILLIAM FRENTZEN 
      Assistant United States Attorneys 
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